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CHAPTER FIVE

THE HISTORICAL LANDSCAPE OF TOWNSHIPS IN THE CENTRAL
WOLDS

The preceding 2 chapters have outlined and discussed the developments in this
landscape, throughout the 1st millennium BC and the first half of the 1st
millennium AD. This has involved an increasingly intensive structure of land
division on the Wolds and, during the Romano-British period, a denser settlement
pattern. We have seen how many of the linears built during the Late Bronze Age,
for the most part, were still respected in the Late Iron Age and beyond. The
persistent endurance of monuments such as these, both in physical form and in
cultural meaning, does not stop at the Romano-British period. The visible barrows
and linear earthworks survive in this landscape and remain important elements that
give meaning to the post Roman landscape. So too, the characteristic topography
of dry valleys and ridges continues to play a strong role in the meanings that human
populations give to this place. In the past, perhaps the end of the Roman period has
been over-emphasised as a period of change; an end to the world as we knew it and
a blank canvas on which to begin to paint the first impressions of Medieval
England. Any echoes back to the Roman centuries were seen as unusual and
remarkable. However, as we will see, there are many continuities at work in this
landscape rooted in the transmission of folk memory over the long term, equally

though we come across change in the same way.

INTRODUCTION

Chapter five is a collection of township profiles. The compilation of information,
regarding the layout and character of the Medieval and Post-Medieval landscape of
the 20 townships within the study area. Chapter 6 will deal with the Anglian and
Anglo-Scandinavian period, and will use the information presented here as a

springboard, from which to look back in time, to before the Norman conquest.



Most of the information for this chapter has come from documentary sources,
relating to the 18th and 19th centuries, and the main aim has been to reconstruct
the pre-enclosure landscape. After all, it was through parliamentary enclosure that
the foundations of the modern Wolds landscape were laid, and when most
alteration and change occurred (see chapter 2). The prime concerns of these
township profiles are topographic, and they are principally concerned with the
layout of boundaries, roads and tracks, open fields and pastures. The origins of
many of these features may well lie in the early Medieval period, origins with which
we will deal in chapter 6. The alterations, during the years of parliamentary
enclosure were so radical here, that it is often very difficult to identify the traces of
the Medieval landscape (see chapter 2). They are rarely visible on the surface, due

to these re-alignments and the arable dominance of the subsequent centuries.

The Enclosure Awards and plans of later 18th and early 19th century, and Tithe
maps of the early 19th century, are our main source for the identification of open
fields but, in addition, the OS 1st edition 6" maps of 1854 often record their names
and general extent. There are a number of large-scale maps of the area from the
later 18th century, which give a good, albeit coarse-grained, picture of the pre-
enclosure road network and the earliest record of township boundaries can also be
found in these maps (i.e. Haynes 1744; Jeffreys 1772; Bowen 1750; Bryant 1828,
Teesdale 1828). There is likely to have been some alteration in the layout and
position .of township boundaries before their earliest detailed record and, in some
cases, we can identify the locations at which this may have occurred. Information
about the use of the Wolds landscape between 12th and 14th century has been
gathered from various land grants and charters recorded, usually, by monastic and
other ecclesiastical institutions (e.g. W.Farrer (1914) Early Yorkshire Charters,
subsequently EYC, followed by entry number of charter reference). Earlier sources,

such as Domesday Book, will be dealt with in chapter 6.

The quality of the documentary record for each township can be variable, as some
do not possess Enclosure Plans, whilst, for others, more detailed estate maps have
survived. Likewise, historical studies which deal with the Medieval and Post-
Medieval landscape already exist for some areas and places. (The most notable of

these are: Victoria County History, East Riding volumes 2,3,4 (subsequently



VCH); S.Neave (1990) Rural Settlement Contraction in the East Riding of
Yorkshire 1660-1760 (unpublished Ph.D. thesis, University of Hull); K. Alison
(1976) The East Riding of Yorkshire Landscape, A Harris (1961) The Rural
Landscape of East Riding of Yorkshire 1700-1850, A Harris (1951) Pre-Enclosure
Agricultural Systems of East Riding of Yorkshire (MA Thesis, University of Hull).

The intensity of landscape change may also be different between townships. In
some, such as Warter and Huggate, a wide range of field names have survived over
several centuries, whilst in others, such as Sledmere, only a very few Medieval

names remain in use today (see chapter 2).

The purpose of these profiles is to gather information, with which to help in the
reconstruction of pre-Norman landscape, and will concentrate on the following

areas:

Territorial identity (parish, township, hundred, wapentake)

Topographic character of township and village

Topography of boundaries

Lost townships and detached portions of townships

Enclosure, emparkment and village depopulation

Medieval land grants, ecclesiastical holdings and granges

Origin a.nd Development of Tracks and Roads

Medieval Open Fields

Medieval and Post-medieval, pre-Enclosure Pasture (areas and recorded rights)

Place and Field Names

The use of the same study area as chapter 3 means that the same places and

features appear. Many of the linears are reused as boundaries or tracks. Many of



the pivotal places within the linear pattern and in the Iron Age landscape are also
focused upon in the Medieval period. For instance, Blealands Nook, Fimber cross-
roads, Warren Dale, Huggate Dykes, Garrowby Top all retain their importance, as
do the linear features such as the Green Lane and the Towthorpe Ridgeway. This
endurance is a response to the topographic peculiarity of these places but also and
perhaps most importantly, to the conscious knowledge that they are historically

important places already.

The reconstructions of pre-enclosure landscapes of the townships are often
conjectural. Because of the late date of the sources used, it is the late Medieval or
post Medieval system that is mapped. Change and re-orientation is likely to have

taken place since the 12th century.

The area of study is broadly the same as chapter 3 and comprises 20 townships in
the eastern and central Wolds (figs 87-89). Figure 87 illustrates the location of the
study area within the wider township structure. Fig 88 indicates the names of
townships and their boundaries and fig 89 shows the townships and dry valleys.
The numbers on this map refer to those found with each township profile (see also
figs 2 and 3).

TOWNSHIP PROFILES

WETWANG (1)

Ecclesiastical Parish: Wetwang (contained township and chapelry of Fimber and

chapelry of Holm Archiepiscopie)
Civil Parish: Wetwang
Township: Wetwang

Hundred: Warter

Wapentake: Buckrose



Wetwang is very much a Wold township. It is situated in the rolling landscape of
the eastern central Wolds and contains part of the broad east-west valley of
Wetwang-Garton Slack (fig 24). A 12th century charter mentions Wetwanghedale,
and is probably referring to this main valley (EYC 1264). The village is situated on
a low east-west ridge, raising it above the floor of the main valley, to the north, and
a tributary dale to the south. These 2 valleys converge just to the east of Wetwang,
in Garton township. From Wetwang, the tributary dale extends westwards into
Huggate, becoming progressively steeper-sided and narrow, as it splits into 3 and
penetrates the interior of the Wolds (fig 89). The main valley, meanwhile, turns

north into Fimber township.

The village has a simple regular plan of a single row with back lanes to north and
south (Sheppard 1976). The road between Driffield and York runs through its
historic core, which is now surrounded by modern housing development. Both

pond and church occupy central positions on the edge of the main street.

The township is a square block with a long withered finger of land extending out
oddly from its north-west corner. The boundaries, to north and south, are both
green lané's, running continuously across the top and bottom of the township (fig
91). The northern one is preserved, for the most part, as a wooded trackway, but
its course is interrupted by a defaced section, recorded as such on 1854 OS (see
chapter 6 for general discussion of green lanes). The southern green lane is also
wooded, but changes its character as it leaves the township, to the west, into
Huggate. The eastern boundary is smooth and straight and probably marked the
edge of open field here, emphasising the extent of the arable in this township
(Allison 1976). The western edge follows Thorndale and then the steep sides of
Harper Dale and Holm Dale. For some distance, this boundary follows linear
earthworks on the edge of the dale. Boundaries are thus following green lanes,
open field boundaries, steep dale-sides and linear earthworks; all common

topographic features for this area.

This is an area of distant views across wide sweeps of rolling arable fields, so

characteristic of the eastern dip slope and in some contrast to the more varied and



dissected interior of the Wolds, to the west and north. It is a very open township,
containing few plantations. This is an aspect of its character which has probably not
changed since the Medieval period for it is described thus, in the 18th century,
"The country is open, scarce a bush or tree appears for several miles". (quoted in

Cole 1894).

The township featured in an early discussion of local field names in the late 19th
century, by Rev. E.M.Cole (1905), an inclusion testament to their high survival, in
this area. The rights of way too appear to have survived enclosure largely intact,
notably that footpath which connects the village to Fimber. It gave the inhabitants
of Fimber access to the church at Wetwang, before a new one was built in Fimber
in 19th century. Fimber was, of course, a chapelry of Wetwang. Another chapelry
is known at Holm Archiepiscopie, a deserted settlement in the far west of
Wetwang parish, the village site marked on the OS 1854 6”, at the end of a long
spur defined by steep valley sides and now known as Holm Field (Beresford 1951-
2). It is not clear whether Holm existed as a separate township at any stage, but if
it were the extent of its former territory is not in doubt, as it is clearly defined by

steep dale-sides and a green lane to the north (see below).

The place-name Wetwang is commonly accepted as having derived from the Old
Scandinavian word Vettvangr, meaning "field of summons for the trial of an action"
(Smith 1937; Gelling forthcoming). Smith points out that in Scandinavia, such
trials were normally held in temporary locations, so here we may be seeing a
different practice involving permanent sites for trial. Notably, the moot place of the
whole East Riding is only a mile east of the village in Garton township (see below
and Ch 6-7). The area, of course, could already have been known by this name
before the existence of any actual settlement. Its situation alongside important east-

west routes makes it a good place for trial gatherings of this kind.

The field names of the township derive mainly from Medieval agricultural practices
and areas, as well as names of dales and hills (Cole 1899). They have survived well,
especially in contrast to the paucity of such names in the adjoining township and

parish of Sledmere to the north.



The whole parish, including Fimber township was enclosed between 1803 and
1806 (English 1985) and, according to the award, there had already been limited
enclosure around the village before this date. Another document, from the early
18th century, was written to the then landowner, Lord Bathurst, in which the agent
puts forward detailed suggestions regarding the "improvement of the lands by
enclosure” and in so doing makes some significant comments on the condition of
the pre-enclosure landscape and agricultural practices (Cole 1894). The agent
consistently urges the landlord to increase the productivity of the land and, in so

doing, to override the hereditary common rights of the villagers. For instance,

"The long custom of the tenants letting this land to the Town has misled
them into an opinion that they have a right to it upon the terms now taken"
(ibid:74)

Here, he is referring to an area of common pasture to the south of the township in
Thorndale. The agent seeks to introduce new crops into the agricultural system so
making the land more productive allowing higher rents to then be charged by the

landowner.

Some of the modern roads were in existence before enclosure but many were
creations of this time, as maps of the late 18th century, produced before enclosure,
indicate (i.e. Jeffreys 1772). Notably, the road to Huggate was re-directed at
enclosure and now survives as a right of way along Harper/Middleham Dale. The
north-south route across the township in the 18th century has now been lost
altogether and this was probably the line of the Roman road to Malton (Margary
1955). Its line appears as a single linear cropmark on the RCHM plots (Stoertz
1997).

At the time of enclosure there were four open fields in the parish. Three around the
village (north, west and south) and Holm Field to the west (Allison 1976;
Enclosure plan). A reference from 1608 refers to the "3 fields of Wetwang", so it
seems that the Holm Field was added after this date (Harris 1951). According to
Harris there was probably one field lying fallow all the time. Hay would have been
collected from balks and verges but still had to be brought in from Driffield to

supplement this meagre harvest (Howorth 1980). Some enclosure field divisions



recorded on OS maps recall, in plan, the furlong boundaries of the open fields (see

maps i.e. at Long Blealands, Bottlands and West Field)

Pastures and pasture rights are recorded remarkably well for Wetwang mainly
because of the Bathurst account. Two areas are mentioned, Thorndale to the south
of the township and a detached area of pasture known as ‘Wetwang Rakes’,
located 3 miles to the west in Bishop Wilton parish (fig 92). Harris regards
Thorndale as a recent (later 18th century) creation and yet there are still strong ties
to be broken between the townsfolk and this area, which must have taken many
years to establish (Cole 1894). Gorse was collected here, as a right which the agent
regarded as theft, and other rights of pasture were rented from the landowner's
tenants. The track out to this pasture survives in part as Thorndale Lane but it is
only continued to the pasture itself as a right of way across arable fields. A
traditional route, which may be based on the course of the former Roman road.
There is unequivocal evidence that a new pasture was created in 17th century, but

it is not necessarily that at Thorndale.

If some doubts surround the antiquity of Thorndale as a remnant of old pasture,
then a much stronger case can be made for Wetwang Rakes. Here is an example of
intercommoning in the Medieval period, one of the very few recorded for the
Wolds (Harris 1951; 1969; Cole 1894), between the inhabitants of Bishop Wilton
township, on the one hand and the Lord of the Manor of Wetwang, on the other.
Therefore, its use by Wetwang was not 6pen to all inhabitants but was controlled
by the lord. In addition to the Bathurst account, it is mentioned in 1650 as "a poell
of pasture.... lying within the common fields of Bishop Wilton" (quoted in Harris
1951). This is clearly an ancient situation, one preserved probably because of the
need for pasture in this overwhelmingly arable township. Notably it is situated
close to Garrowby top alongside several other important detached portions and
pastures (see chapter 6). Furthermore it is the northerly Green Lane which would
give access to this pasture from Wetwang. A clear illustration of the usefulness and
necessity of a droveway along the boundary, in cases such as this, and of the
inextricable link between pasture and the green lanes. A map of Wetwang Rakes

survives from 18th century, showing a trackway which is now a right of way as



well as multiple linear earthworks forming the eastern boundary of the unit. This is

probably its former extent as in 1760 it is recorded as 108 acres (Harris 1951).

As well as specific pasture areas, there are also recorded rights of pasture in the
open fields whilst they are fallow or after harvest. As Harris describes, these rights
are complicated and well structured, being organised around significant season-
based feast days (1951). The restrictions are also strictly enforced. For instance,
there is the example of a villager in 1705 who was fined for folding his sheep into

the open field before the allotted post harvest date of Michaelmas Day (ibid).

Water provision, both for animal and human use was also a problem, as again Lord
Bathurst's agent remarks that livestock had to be driven 3 miles for water in dry
summers when the rain fed pond dried up. The pond has at least been around since
the 14th century, as a list of residents from 1303 mentions Laurentius atte Mar,

translated as Laurentius of the pond (Cole 1894).

In spite of the apparent simplicity of the township boundaries of Wetwang, there is
one example requiring investigation and explanation. At the head of Thorndale 3
township boundaries converge in a confusing dog-leg pattern. The triangular piece
of land so created is called "Old Wold" on the 1854 OS 6" and it is also at this
point that a number of putatively early trackways converge, some following
boundaries others not. Two later 18th century maps (Jeffreys 1772; Bowen 1750)
record the pre-enclosure configuration which seems to be much simpler, signifying
some alterations, since the later 18th century. The primary lines are the east-west
Green Lane and the north-south long boundary forming a simple cross-roads at this
point. A piece of the woldland was probably given over to Wetwang at enclosure,
dating from a time when boundaries here were not properly fixed. (see also
Huggate discussion) It was also at this time that the old Roman road running past

Old Wold was apparently lost.

The case surrounding Holme Archiepiscopie also requires some discussion. It is
mentioned by Beresford in his catalogue of lost villages in Yorkshire and by Cole in
late 19th century (Beresford 1951-2; Cole 1894). There is no Domesday reference
but Cole reckons that lands here were given before the Norman conquest to

St.Peter's in York. Archbishop Thomas (died 1100 AD) granted the prebend of



Holme to the Monastery of Hexham. Interestingly he is also the only landlord
mentioned for Wetwang in Domesday Book, which suggests that Holme was
included 'in the Wetwang assessment. In 13th century, the prebend was re-aquired
by York. A small place, in 1381 it returned 11 poll tax payers, but probably
contained a manor house and chapel (Beresford 1951-2). An early 17th century
reference records the continued recognition of the prebendcy still at this time but
acknowledges the inclusion of the 'towne' within the parish of Wetwang (ibid). The
1854 OS 6" records the location of the site of the former village and Beresford

refers to cropmarks here.

Field names too in this vicinity acknowledge the former importance of the small
township. Holm Field in Wetwang has already been mentioned but there is also
Holm Mere and Holm Dale, just outside Wetwang, in modern Huggate. As well,
there are 12th century references to Middleholm (now Middleham, Huggate),
Oxeholm (now Oxlands, Huggate); Kirkholmnab (unlocated but probably Wold
Nab, Huggate) and Greneholm (unlocated but probably in Huggate) (EYC 1264-
5). It is not clear whether these latter four names refer to the village or are merely
regular uses of the generic holmr, but they do cluster around the Huggate
boundary with Wetwang at Holm Field. If Kirkholmnab is a name referring to the
old village of Holm it may be giving us its original name of Kirkholm, suggesting
an early church at this place. This would in some sense account for its peculiar

ecclesiastical importance and long-lasting administrative autonomy.
SLEDMERE (2) AND CROOM (3)

Civil Pal;ish: Sledmere

Ecclesiastical Parish: Sledmere with Croom
Townships: Sledmere, Croom

Wapentake: Buckrose

Hundred: Thorshowe (Turbar?)

10



(As well as Sledmere in Domesday Book, Ledemare is mentioned as an outlier of
Fordon and part of Turbar hundred. Smith has attributed this place to Sledmere
arguing that the S was often lost in Anglo-Norman. This would split Sledmere
between 2 hundreds as is the case with Elmswell. Nearby Garton is also a detached

part of Turbar Hundred.)

Croom is sokeland to Weaverthorpe and soke also to Buckton. Thorshowe is here

referred to as wapentake not hundred.

Located to the north of Wetwang, Sledmere is now one of the largest parishes in
East Yorkshire (fig 88). The modern parish contains the old township of Croom,
assessed separately in Domesday Book, and now evident from field names and the
remains of a deserted village in the north of the parish (fig 93). In fact, the two
Medieval settlements were located fairly close to each other, unusual for this
sparsely populated area. The parish is centred on the main Wolds east-west
watershed, the southern edge of the Great Wold Valley, at a point where this valley
becomes more dissected. At Sledmere, several valley systems meet, some travelling
south into Wetwang Slack and others running north down into the valley of the
Gypsey Race. It is therefore sitting at an important natural cross-roads, in a
commanding position. Most of the territory within the former Sledmere township is
south-facing whilst that within Croom belongs, topographically, to the Gypsey
Race valley (fig 89).

It is easier to look at the boundaries for the 2 townships separately, as there is
much more unity within each township than for the parish as a whole. The
boundary between Sledmere and Croom is only retrievable from the late 18th
century estate maps (DDSY 106/27-29; DDSY 106/4; DDSY 106/7-12). It follows
from the east, a linear earthwork the Great Wold Dyke, the main road, an old back
lane to the north of Sledmere village (now gone) and Kirby Lane. The rest of
Croom boundary is west to east, an arc following 2 small side valleys. Sledmere is
bounded.to the east by the sweeping lines of open field edge leading down into the
bottom of Greenland Slack. The southern boundary is the Green Lane, the

11



boundary following the linear earthwork in Warren Dale in the south-east corner.
This is where the coach road version of the Green Lane diverted off from its
original line. In places, the boundary runs along the linear rather than the road
showing the chronological primacy of the former over the latter feature (see
chapter 3). The western boundary is more complicated and interesting. The line is
not sweeping or smooth but follows a series of adjoining linear earthworks,
themselves following the valley of Bessingdale and Broad Dale. A strange kick-
back occurs above Fimber cross-roads on the spur overlooking the convergence of
2 main valleys here. The line here follows the former cross roads (pre 19th
century), itself lying on complex multiple linear earthworks. From here, the
boundar); follows the road to Sledmere and then a series of dales and ridges to join

the Towthorpe Ridgeway.

The north-west corner of the parish gives the impression of having some
independent territorial integrity and may be another small hamlet, as yet
unrecorded, but perhaps with the name of Maramatte. The territory also contained
a Mill. The original line of the Croom-Sledmere boundary is not clear and a much
more natural line would be that joining the Towthorpe ridgeway to the
Collingwood linear, possibly the line of the original ridgeway. In this way, the
north-west corner would have been part of Croom township originally. Other
strange features occur are at Collingwood Plantation where the township boundary
follows the linear rather than the High Street; Warren Dale where the coach road
and boundary diverge and, of course, Fimber cross-roads. The triangular effect at
Canada Cottages is probably created by former roads becoming boundaries. This
shape is familiar for converging roads but not for boundaries, unless they have been

implanted upon existing roads.

The Medieval open fields are visible in the late 18th century estate maps and to
some extent in field names from 1854 OS. At this time, the township of Sledmere
seems to have contained 3 open fields: north-west around Maramatte, east around
Sledmere Castle and south across Life Hill. The latter two may well originally have
been one large open field but the name Sledmere Field on OS 6" only seems to
apply to Life Hill. The Maramatte area bears the name West Field on 1854 OS and

contains some clear furlongs on 18th century estate maps. Some of these furlong
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boundaries seem to have followed the lines of linear earthworks known from Life
Hill, sugpgesting that the earthworks themselves may be of Medieval origin (see
chapter 3). In Croom there was one open field seemingly surrounding the village
and an area of woldland to north-east, now known as Croom Wold. There are also
cultivation terraces by the old village, emphasising the lack of good level arable
land in this small township. Sledmere township was large and by no means entirely
arable, as in 17th century, it is noted by Henry Best of Elmswell, as one of the few
places on the wolds where pasture could be rented by those short of this
commodity in other areas (Woodward/Best 1984). Pastures in Sledmere, in the
18th century, probably existed at the margins of the township around Triplescore

Dale, Warren Farm and Flint Hill.

There are few land grants available for this parish but a reference for 1649 records

1

that one man Robert Taylor of Sledmere \..may peaceably have, hold and
enjoy...... all lands, meadows, pastures, moors, commons and other
hereditaments...... lying and being in Sledmere"  as well as "lands called
Collingwood" and "Edgward Mere". This refers to the former land of Byland
Abbey and the Monastery of Swine. (Descent of lands in Sledmere). Kirkham
Priory and Bridlington Priory are also recorded as landlords here in 14th century
(Bulmer 1892). The dominant landowning presence of ecclesiastical institutions
and the evident extensive rights of pasture may recall a time when much of this

land was in fact, pasture.

The same document records the ecclesiastical dependency between Sledmere and
Kirby Grindalythe, in that Sledmere was regarded as a chapelry of the latter parish
and with it appropriated to the Priory of Kirkham (Bulmer 1892). Furthermore, the
keys of the chapel were taken down to Grindalyth altar every St.Andrew's Day to

express the dependency.

The place-name has been interpreted most recently by Gelling as an early Old
English topographical name meaning "pool in the valleys", referring to the several
"short deep valleys in the area"(Gelling forthcoming). Croom, she sees as an old
English dative plural meaning "at the nooks" again referring to the convergence of

the valleys at this place. Three ponds are recorded in 18th to 19th century maps:
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Church Pond, Ox pond and Skeandale Pond. The importance of the pond(s) for
this place in the Middle Ages cannot be overstated and is affirmed by a 1303
reference, for here, to Martin Attemar (Cole 1894).

More than any other featured township, the landscape around Sledmere went
through enormous change during the late 18th and 19th centuries. Even after the
massive z.ﬂterations imposed by the Enclosure Commissioners, further changes took
place here centred on the family seat of the Sykes at Sledmere House. The family
had come here in 1748 and by 1880 had become the largest landowners of the East
Riding (English 1990). Between them, father and son, Sir Christopher and Sir
Tatton Sykes have become landowning legends, being held largely responsible for
encouraging the "improvement” of the wolds through Enclosure. The memorial to

Sir Tatton Sykes (figs 94-5), in the village church, reads:

" To the memory of Sir Tatton Sykes, 4th Baronet of Sledmere, born 1773,
died 1863. He held the Sledmere Estate for forty years and completed the great
work of his father Sir Christopher. Together they changed the Wolds of Yorkshire
Jfrom an uncultivated waste into a model of fruitful husbandry. He was famous as
an agric;llturalist, as a master of hounds, as a breeder of horses and above all as
a landlord whose lifelong care was the welfare of those who lived upon his estate.

The Wolds are his memorial "

Another, to Tatton's father, Christopher, is in the same vein,

"whoever now traverses the wolds of Yorkshire and contrasts their present
appearance with what they were, cannot but extol the name of Sykes" (Inscription

in West Heslerton, quoted in, English 1991)

The legacy of this time is felt strongly in the modern landscape of Sledmere. It
revolves around the house and parkland, but also features a model estate village

and carefully re-directed roads which take even the casual uninterested passer by

14



on a scenic drive past monuments to the great Sykes ancestors. This experience has
been carefully managed and refined over the last 200 years. Such was the scale of
the 18th and 19th century changes at Sledmere that it is difficult today to see even
the Medieval landscape, let alone anything earlier. Within the former township of
Sledmere there are no rights of way at all, the park remaining a private place and
the field name record from most of the parish is meagre, especially on the southern

slopes around Life Hill, where the few names are of enclosure period.

The major post-Medieval changes took place during the late 18th and early/mid
19th century. Needless to say the enclosure of a large part of the Wolds was driven
and direc':ted from here. The Sykes family owned a great deal of land at this time
and took to improving the "uncultivated waste" with a missionary zeal (fig 96).
Their own back yard therefore had to reflect the significance of their achievement
and their pre-eminence in wealth, influence and land. Accompanying the landscape
alterations are a series of estate maps from late 18th and early 19th centuries which
illustrate the intended changes, as in new roads, plantations and farms, but also
record the existing situation of open field furlong boundaries and the site of the
former village. As well, there are general maps from the late 18th century onwards,
which record the changing scene and enable each phase to be isolated and broadly

dated (see above).

Several different features of the landscape were altered, in several phases. The
early-mid 18th century saw the first house and a small landscaped park in front of
it; a triangular shape fanning out from the house and framing a wider view to the
south. This area was bordered by avenues of trees, recorded in 1910 map and in
field names and farm names of today. In 1772, part of the old village was still
present alongside this park, along with the old roads, several crossing the
emparked area. Later in the 18th century plans were made for a more radical
change. The park was then much enlarged, consuming the site of part of the
village, so moving inhabitants to its north side and leaving the parish church
isolated within the new parkland. The old triangle was naturalised, at this stage and
the whole area dotted with elaborate curving plantations, all the way from the
House to the southern edge of the parish on the Green Lane, the boundary with

Wetwang. New farmhouses were al